UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
For the Fifth Crcuit

No. 02-20713

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

VERSUS

JULI O CESAR RODRI GUEZ- DUBERNEY,

Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
For the Southern District of Texas, Houston

March 25, 2003

Before JONES, W ENER, and DeMOSS, Circuit Judges.
DeMOSS, Circuit Judge:

Appel I ant Juli o Cesar Rodri guez-Duberney (“Duberney”) pl eaded
guilty to one count of illegally reentering the United States after
deportation in violation of 8 U S. C. 88 1326(a) and (b)(2). At
sentencing, the district court applied a sixteen-level upward
adj ust nrent based on Duberney’s prior conviction for a felony drug
trafficking offense under the Travel Act. Duber ney objected
arguing that the court should only look at the elenents of the
prior offense and not the underlying conduct. The district court
deni ed Duberney’s objection and subsequently sentenced him to
fifty-six nonths in prison and three years of supervised rel ease.

Duberney tinely appeal ed his sentence to this Court.



BACKGROUND

Duberney pleaded guilty to one count of illegal reentry into
the United States. The Pre-Sentencing Report (“PSR’) assigned
Duberney a base offense | evel of eight in accordance with U S. S G
§ 2L1.2(a). The PSR al so assigned Duberney a 16-1|evel upward
adjustnent to his offense level pursuant to 8 2L1.2(b)(1)(A) (i),
which provides, “If the defendant previously was deported, or
unlawful ly remained in the United States, after . . . a conviction
for afelony that is . . . adrug trafficking offense for which the
sentence i nposed exceeded 13 nonths, . . . increase by 16 |levels.”
Followng an adjustnent for acceptance of responsibility,
Duberney’s total offense level was 21, and he was in crimna
hi story category IV. Hi s Quidelines sentencing range was 57-71
months in prison and a tw to three year term of supervised
rel ease.!?

Duberney’s prior convictioninvolved a violation of the Travel
Act, 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1952, which prohibits interstate travel and
communi cation in aid of racketeering. In the prior conviction,
Duberney had been part of a conspiracy to transport marijuana and
cocaine across state |Iines. Though Duberney was originally
i ndi cted on a charge of conspiracy to possess narijuana and cocai ne
wth intent to distribute, he was permtted to plead guilty to a
violation of the Travel Act. The indictnent in this prior
convi ction charged Duberney with interstate transportation in aid
of racketeering “wth the intent to pronote cocai ne and marijuana

trafficking.” Duberney was sentenced to 37 nonths’ inprisonnent

At sentencing, the District Court gave Duberney a one nonth
credit for time already served in custody of the INS, which
explains his actual sentence which is 1 nonth bel ow the guideline
range.



for this prior offense.

In the present case’s sentencing hearing, Duberney objectedto
the 16-1evel upward adjustnent. Though he did not dispute the
“underlying conduct” of his prior conviction involved drug
trafficking, Duberney argued that under this Crcuit’s
“categorical” approach to classifying offenses for Quidelines
pur poses, his prior 8 1952 conviction did not qualify as a drug
trafficking offense under 8 2L1.2(b)(1)(A)(i). Duberney reasoned
that because the Travel Act targets interstate or foreign trave
“Iinaidof” several fornms of “unlawful activity” - many of which do
not involve drugs or drug trafficking - a Travel Act violation is
not a “drug trafficking offense” as defined in the Sentencing
Qui delines. He contended that he thus shoul d not have received the
16-1 evel upward adj ustnent.

The district court denied Duberney’s objection. Though the
district court acknow edged that a person coul d be convicted under
8§ 1952 for unlawful activities other than drug trafficking, it
noted that the el enents of a § 1952 of fense are sonewhat determ ned
by the type of racketeering enterprise being aided. The district
court therefore concluded that because “the charge itself reflects
a drug trafficking offense,” his Travel Act conviction warranted
the 16-1evel increase under 8 2L1.2(b)(1)(A). The district court
sentenced Duberney to fifty-six nonths in prison and three years of
supervi sed rel ease. Duberney tinely appeal ed his sentence to this
Court.

DI SCUSSI ON

Did the district court err in concluding that Duberney’'s prior

conviction warranted a 16-1 evel upward adj ust nent?

This Court will uphold a sentence unless it is inposed in

violation of law, is based on an erroneous application of the
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Cui del i nes, or unreasonably departs fromthe applicabl e guideline
range. United States v. Q@uadardo, 40 F.3d 102, 103 (5th Grr.
1994) . The district court’s application of the Quidelines is
reviewed de novo, and its findings of fact are reviewed for clear
error. United States v. DeSantiago- Gonzal ez, 207 F.3d 261, 263
(5th Gr. 2000). The 2001 Guidelines apply to the instant case
because Duberney was sentenced on June 17, 2002. United States v.
Kimer, 167 F.3d 889, 893 (5th Cr. 1999).

Duber ney mai ntai ns on appeal that his § 1952 conviction is not
a drug trafficking offense under 8 2L1.2(b)(1)(A(i). Duber ney
does not dispute that the wunderlying conduct in his § 1952
conviction did, in fact, involve the transportation of illega
drugs. He argues, however, that the district court should have
taken a categorical approach to the classifying offense and that
his § 1952 conviction does not qualify as a drug trafficking crine
under such an approach because it is possible to commt a 8§ 1952
of fense that does not involve drugs. W are, therefore, left with
question of whether or not the district court erred, as a matter of
law, in |looking to the conduct underlying Duberney’s prior 8 1952
conviction in applying 8 2L1. 2(b)(1)(A) (i).

Duberney argues that under this Court’s decision in United
States v. Gracia-Cantu, 302 F.3d 308 (5th Cr. 2002), we should
enpl oy a “categorical approach” to classify prior offenses for the
pur poses of 8§ 2L1.2. In Gracia-Cantu, this Court held that the
offense of “injury to a child” is not properly classified as a

“crime of violence” for the purposes of 8§ 2L1.2(b)(1)(A)? because

The commentary to 8 2L1.2 provides that an “aggravated
felony” be defined under 8 U S.C. § 1101(a)(43). Under that
section, an aggravated felony includes a “crinme of violence” as
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the focus of that provision should be on the offense itself as
defi ned under state | aw and not by facts underlying the conviction.
Under Texas law, “injury to a child” enconpasses both crines of
om ssion as well as violent crines. Id. at 311-12. This Court
concl uded, therefore, that, regardl ess of the underlying facts, the
offense of “injury to a child,” by its nature, is not a crine of
vi ol ence under 82L1.2, because it could be prem sed on an om ssion
rather than on an overt violent act. ld. at 312-13. Duber ney
argues that the *“categorical approach” this Court wused in
interpreting 8 2L1.2(b)(1)(A)(ii) should be extended to
2L1. 2(b) (1) (A)(i).

However, Duberney’'s reliance on Gacia-Cantu is m spl aced.
Gracia-Cantu was prem sed upon this Court’s decision in United
States v. Chapa-Garza, 243 F. 3d 921 (5th Gr. 2001). G acia-Cantu,
302 F.3d at 312. |In Chapa-Garza, this Court noted that 18 U S. C
8 16 (b) defines a “‘crinme of violence” as “any other offense that
is a felony and that, by its nature, involves a substantial risk
t hat physical force against the person or property of another may
be used in the course of commtting the offense.”” Id. at 923
(quoting 18 U.S.C. 816 (b)). The Court then concl uded that:

the words “by its nature” require us to enploy a
cat egori cal approach when determ ni ng whet her an of f ense
is acrinme of violence. This nmeans that the particul ar
facts of the defendant's prior conviction do not matter,
e. g. whet her the defendant actual ly did use force agai nst
the person or property of another to commt the offense.
The proper inquiry is whether a particular defined
of fense, in the abstract, is a crine of violence under 18
U S C § 16(b).

Chapa- Garza, 243 F.3d at 924 (citation omtted). Therefore, in

defined under 18 U S.C. 8§ 16. The Court therefore anal yzed what
constitutes a “crine of violence” under § 16.
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both Graci a-Cantu and Chapa-Garza, it was the use of the words “by
its nature” that invoked a categorical approach by this Court. See
also United States v. DeSantiago- Gonzal ez, 207 F.3d 261, 264 (5th
Cir. 2000).

Duberney’ s enhancenent was not due to a “crine of violence”
of fense  but for a drug trafficking offense under 8§
2L1.2(b) (1) (A (i). The commentary to the CGuidelines defines a drug
trafficking offense broadly as “an of fense under federal, state, or
local law that prohibits the manufacture, inport, export,
distribution, or dispensing of a controlled substance (or a
counterfeit substance) or the possession of a controll ed substance
(or counterfeit substance) with intent to nmanufacture, inport,
export, distribute, or dispense.” US S G 8§ 2L1.2, cnt. app. n.
1(B)(iii). No where does this definition use the words “by its
nature” so as to invoke a categorical approach. We therefore
decline to extend the Gacia-Cantu categorical approach to 8§
2L1. 2(b) (1) (A) (i).

Furthernmore, we find that Duberney’s prior Travel Act
conviction may be classified as a “drug trafficking offense”
W t hout el aborate consideration of his underlying conduct. As
noted above, in Duberney’s prior conviction, he was charged wth,
and pleaded guilty to, “interstate transportation in aid of
racketeering with the intent to pronote cocaine and nmarijuana
trafficking.” The district court had only to | ook at the charging
indictment to find that the prior Travel Act violation was one
i nvol ving drug trafficking.

In Taylor v. United States, the Suprenme Court stated that such
an approach is acceptable in a “narrow range of cases.” 495 U. S.
575, 602 (1990). The Suprene Court went on to explain when such a



situation m ght arise:

For exanple, in a State whose burglary statutes include
entry of an autonobile as well as a building, if the
i ndi ctnment or information and jury instructions showt hat
the defendant was charged only with a burglary of a
buil ding, and that the jury necessarily had to find an
entry of a building to convict, then the Governnent
shoul d be allowed to use the conviction for enhancenent.

ld. We acknow edged Taylor in United States v. Allen, stating:

W read Taylor as allowng the sentencing court to
consider only the statutory definition of the offense,
the charging paper and jury instructions. Any different
rule raises the possibility of mni-trials to determ ne
the facts underlying a prior offense. Such an “el aborate
factfinding process regarding the defendant’s prior
of fenses,” is specifically barred by Tayl or.

282 F.3d 339, 343 (5th Cr. 2002)(citation omtted). From Tayl or
and Allen, we therefore conclude that in the case of a statute such
as the one at issue here, where the underlying conduct may i ncl ude
conduct that woul d nmake the defendant eligible for an enhancenent,
the district court does not err when it |ooks to the underlying
i ndictment for guidance.® Just as a district court could look to
the indictnent to see if a burglary was one that involved a
building rather than an autonobile, it can also look to the
indictment to see if a Travel Act violation involved drug
trafficking. Ajury was required to find drug trafficking in order
to convict Duberney of the Travel Act violation, and there is no
danger of the district court undertaking an el aborate fact-finding
process in order to determne the nature of the defendant’s

under | yi ng of fense.

5This is in no way neant to alter this Court’s decisions in
Chapa- Garza and Graci a-Cantu, in which we have already held that
the precise | anguage involved in the definition of a “crinme of
vi ol ence” required a categorical approach.
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CONCLUSI ON

Having carefully reviewed the record of this case and the
parties’ respective briefing and for the reasons set forth above,
we conclude that the district court did not err in concluding that
Duberney’s prior conviction justified a 16-1evel enhancenent under
UsS S G § 2L1. 2. We therefore AFFIRM the district court’s
deci si on.
AFFI RVED.



